
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

Case No. 09-21010-CR-JEM(s)(s)

18 U.S.C. j 371
15 U.S.C. j 78dd-2(a)
18 U.S.C. j 2
18 U.S.C. j 1956(h)
18 U.S.C. j 1956(a)(1)(B)(i)
18 U.S.C. j 981(a)(1)(c)
18 U.S.C. j 982(a)(1)

UNITED STATES OF AM ERICA

VS.

W ASHINGTON VASCONEZ CRUZ
,CECILIA ZURITA

,

AM ADEUS RICHE ,RS

CINERGY TELECOM M UNICATIONS
, INC..

PATRICK JOSEPH,

JEAN RENE DUPERVAL
,

and

M ARGUERITE GRANDISON
,

Defendants.

/

SECOND SUPERSEDING INDICTM ENT

The Grand Jury charges that:

At all times relevant to this Second Superseding Indictment
, unless otherwise specifed:

GENERAL ALLEGATIONS

Legal Background

The Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977
, as amended, 15 U.S.C. j 78dd-l, et

seq. ('1FCPA''), prohibited certain classes of persons and entities from corruptly making payment
s

to foreign government officials to assist in obtaining or retaining busines
s.Specifically, the FCPA
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prohibited certain corporations and individuals f
rom willfully making use of any means or

instrumentality of interstate commerce corruptl
y in furtherance of an offer

,paym ent, promise to pay,

or authorization of the payment of money or anything 
of value to any person

, while knowing that a1l

or a portion of such money or thing of value would b
e offered, given, or promised, directly or

indirectly, to a foreign oftkial to intluence the fo
reign ofscial in his or her official capacity

, induce

the foreign official to do or omit to do an act in vi
olation of his or her lawful duty

, or secure any

improper advantage in order to assist in obtaini
ng or retaining business for or with

, or directing

business to, any person
.

The Republic of Haiti's Penal Code Article 140 prohibit
ed persons from corrupting

or attempting to corrupt by promises
, offers, gifts, or presents, an official, agent, or officer holding

a position in any administrative
, judicial, or military public authority, in order to obtain a favorable

opinion; records, statements
, certiticates or assessments contrary to the truth; or 

positions,

employment, adjudications, undertakings or other benefits of any type; or any other acti
on by the

department of the official
, agent or officer. The Republic of Haiti's Penal Code Article 137

prohibited any administrative
, judicial, or military public official or any agent or offcer of a public

authority from accepting offers or promises or receiving gifts of promises to pe
rform an action as

a function of his position or his job, even one that is irmocent but not subject to the payment of

salaly.

Entities and lndividuals

Haiti Teleco and Haitian Oy cials

Telecommunications D'Haiti (çtl-laiti Teleco'') was the Republic of Haiti's state
-

owned national telecom munications company
. Haiti Teleco was the only provider of non-cellular
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telephone service to and from Haiti
. Various intem ational telecommunications 

companies

contracted with Haiti Teleco to allow those compani
es' customers to make calls to Haiti

. These

telecommunications companies would pay Haiti T
eleco a set rate for each minute of telephone c

alls

to Haiti.

From in or around M arch 2001
, to in or around June 2003

, defendant PATRICK

JOSEPH was the Director General of Haiti Tel
eco. In this position, PATRICK JOSEPH had

overall responsibility for Haiti Teleco and its relati
onships with international telecommunications

companies, including Uniplex Telecom T
echnologies, lnc., CINERGY

TELECOM M UNICATIONS
, INC., and Terra Telecommunications Corp

. lt was PATRICK

JOSEPH'S responsibility to set tht Haiti Teleco rate f
or land line telecommunications

, along with

the Board of Directors of Haiti Teleco
, and to negotiate and sign contracts with telecommunications

carriers. During his tenure at Haiti Teleco
, PATRICK JOSEPH was a 'çforeign official'' as that

term is defined in the FCPA
, 15 U.S.C. j 78dd-2(h)(2).

5. From in or arotmd July 2001 
, to in or around April 2003, Robert Antoine was the

Director of International Relations of Haiti Teleco
. In this position, it was Antoine's responsibility

to administer contracts with intemational telecommunications companies on beh
alf of Haiti Teleco

,

including Uniplex Telecom Technologies
, lnc., CINERGY TELECOM M UNICATIONS

, lNC.,

and Terra Telecommunications Corp
. During his tenure at Haiti Teleco

, Antoine was a itforeign

official'' as that term is defined in the FCPA
, 15 U.S.C, j 78dd-2(h)(2).

6. From in or around June 2003
, to in or around April 2004, defendant JEAN RENE

DUPERVAL was the Director of International Relations of Haiti Teleco
. Similarto his predecessor

Robert Antoine, it was DUPERVAL'S responsibility to administer c
ontracts with international
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telecommunicationscompanies on behalf 
of Haiti Teleco. During his tenure at Haiti Teleco

,

DUPERVAL was a ûfforeign ofticial'' as th
atterm is defined in the FCPA

, 15 U.S.C. j 78dd-2(h)(2).

From in or arotmd August 2001 
, to in or around M arch 2004

, Official A was the

Governor of the Banque de la République d'H
aiti (ssBank of Haiti''), the state-owned and state

-

controlled central bnnk of Haiti
. In this position, Official A had ultimate responsibility for th

e

operations of the Bank of Haiti
. Oftkial A was PATRICK JOSEPH 'S fath

er. During his tenure

at the Bank of Haiti
, Offcial A was a Sçforeign offcial'' as that te

rm is defined in the FCPA
, 15

U.S.C. j 78dd-2(h)(2).

8. From in or around 2001
, to in or around 2004, Official B was an official in the

executive branch of the Haitian Govemment
.

defined in the FCPA
,15 U.S.C. j 78dd-2(h)(2).

Offieial B was a iiforeign official'' as that t
elnn is

Uniplex and Cinerv

Uniplex Telecom Technologies
, lnc. Cçuniplex'') was a privately owned

telecommunications company that was incorporated i
n Florida on or about January 20

, 1993, and

was headquartered in M inmi
, Florida. Uniplex executed a series of contracts with Haiti Teleco that

allowed Uniplex's customers to place calls to Haiti
. Uniplex was administratively dissolved by the

Florida Department of State on or about September 26
, 2008. Uniplex was a lldomestic concern''

as that tenu is detined in the FCPA
, 15 U.S.C. j 78dd-2(h)(l).

10. Defendant CINERGY TELECOM M UNICATIONS
, INC. (LtCINERGY'') was a

privately owned telecommunications company that w
as incorporated in Florida on or about M arch

13, 2001, andheadquartered atthe same address asunipl
ex in M iam i, Florida. CINERGY executed

a series of contracts with Haiti Teleco that allowed CINERGY'
S customers to place calls to Haiti

,

4
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CINERGY was closely related to Unipl
ex, sharing its

officers, employees
, and office space, and the two companies were at times treated 

as one and the

same by Haiti Teleco. CINERGY was a t%domestic concem'' as that t
erm is detined in the FCPA

,

15 U.S.C. j 78dd-2(h)(l).

DefendantW ASHINGTONVASCONEZ CRUZ
waSthe Presidentofuniplexand

the President and Chief Operating Ofticer of CINERGY
. In these positions

, VASCONEZ had

authority over the operations of Uniplex and CINERGY
. VASCONEZ was a citizen of the United

including a contract for calling cards
.

States. VASCONEZ was a çsdomestic concern'' 
and an officer, employee

, and agent of a domestic

concem , as these terms are defined in the FCPA
, l 5 U.S.C. j 78dd-2(h)(1).

12. Defendant CECILIA ZultlTA was the Vic
e President of Uniplex and CINERGY

.

In these positions, ZURITA was in charge of overseeing Uniplex's and CINERGY'S finances
.

ZURITA was a citizen of the United States
. ZURITA was a tidomestic concern'' and an oficer

,

employee, and agent of a domestic concern
, as these terms are defned in the FCPA

, 1 5 U.S.C. j

78dd-2(h)(1).

Defendant AM ADEUS RICHERS was the Director of U
niplex and CINERGY .

In these positions
, RICHERS managed the ongoing business relationship b

etween Uniplex,

CINERGY, and Haiti Teleco
. RICHERS was a German citizen and a resident of B

razil.

RICHERS was an officer
, employee, and agent of a domestic concern

, as these terms are defined

in the FCPA. 15 U .S.C. j 78dd-2(h)(1).

5
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Terra

14. Terra Telecommunications Corp
. (ûtTerra'') was a privately owned

telecommunications company
, headqum ered in M iami

, Florida, that was incoporated in Nevada

on or about July 1, 1996
, and incomorated in Florida on or about Feb

ruary 2, 2002. Terra executed

a series of contracts with Haiti Teleco that allo
wed Terra's customers to place calls to Haiti

. Terra

was a didomestic concern'' as that term is defined i
n the FCPA, 15 U .S.C. j 78dd-2(h)(1).

Joel Esquenazi was the President and Di
rector of Terra. ln this position

, he

negotiated and signed contracts with Haiti Tele
co on behalf of Terra. Esquenazi had signatory

authority over Tenu's bank accotmts and had an 
approximately 75% ownership interest in Terra

.

Esquenazi was a citizen of the United States
. Esquenazi was a Sçdomestic concenf' and an offi

cer,

employee, and agent of a domestic concern
, as these tenns are defined in the FCPA

, 15 U.S.C. j

78dd-2(h)(1).

Carlos Rodriguez was the Executive Vice Preside
nt of Terra. ln this position

,

Rodriguez was in charge of overseeing Terra's fin
ances. Rodriguez had signatory authority over

Terra's bank accounts and had an approximately 20% 
ownership interest in Terra. Rodriguez was

a lawful permanent resident of the United States
. Rodriguez was a iddomestic concern'' and an

officer, employee, and agent of a domestic concern
, as these terms are defined in the FCPA

, 15

U.S.C. j 78dd-2(h)(1).

The Gtneral Counsel (tçGeneral Counsel'') was the Vice Preside
nt and General

Counsel for Terra. ln this position, the General Counsel drafted
, negotiated and reviewed contracts

,

nmong other things. The General Counsel was a citizen of th
e United States.The General Counsel

6
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was a iidomestic concem '' and an officer
, employee, and agent of a domestic concern

, as these terms

are detined in the FCPA
, 15 U.S.C. j 78dd-2(h)(1).

Intermediaries

Juan Diaz served as an intermediary for bribe 
payments made (a) by Uniplex and

CINERGY to Robert Antoine and PATRICK JOSEPH f
rom in or around November 2001

, until

1 8 .

in or around at least October 2003
, and (b) by Terra to Robert Antoine from in or around Nove

mber

2001, until in or around at least October 2003
. In or around November 2001

, Diaz opened a business

checking account at Kislak National Bank in Mi
ami, Florida, in the nnme of JD Locator Service

s,

lnc. (QtJD Locator''). On or about August 19
, 2002, Diaz incoporated JD Locator in Florida

, listing

its principal address as located in M iami
, Florida. JD Locator did not have a physical location or a

bank account in Haiti
. Diaz was a citizen of the United States

. Diaz was a tddomestic coneern'' and

an agent of a domestie concern as these terms are defined in th
e FCPA, 15 U .S.C. j 78dd-2(h)(1).

Jean Fourcand worked as an intenuediary
, helping Uniplex and CINERGY

, Terra,

Juan Diaz and JD Locator
, and Robert Antoine and PATRICK JOSEPH

. From in or around

November 2001, until in or around August 2002
, Fourcand received funds from Uniplex and

CINERGYK d from TerrathroughlD Locator
. He continuedto conductfinancial transactions with

these funds tlzrough June 2005
. Fourcand incorporated Fourcand Entem rises

, lnc., on or about

January 17, 2002
, in Florida, listed its principal address as M inmi

, Florida, acted as its Director, and

opened a bank aecount at First Union Bank in M iami
, Florida. Fourcand was a citizen of the United

States. Fourcand was a k'domestic concem'' and an 
officer, employee, and agent of a domestic

concern as these terms are defined in the FCPA
, 15 U.S.C. j 78dd-2(h)(1).

7

7 of 44

Case 1:09-cr-21010-JEM   Document 685   Entered on FLSD Docket 01/20/2012   Page 7 of 44



20. DefeIIIIaIAtM ARGUERITEGRANDISON 
servedas an intermediarybetweenTerra

,

Uniplex and CINERGY and her brother
, JEAN RENE DUPERVAL

. GRANDISON was the

President of Telecom Consulting Servic
es Corp. (si-l-elecom Consultinf')

, a Florida corporation

incoporated on or about October 16
, 2003, with its principal place of business i

n M iramar, Florida.
On or about November 18

, 2003, GRANDISON opened a business checking account in the name

of Telecom Consulting with South-rrust Ba
nk in Miami, Florida. GM NDISON was a lawful

permanent resident of the United States
. GM NDISON was a Efdomestic concem'' a

nd an officer
,

employee, and agent of a domestic concern as th
ese terms are defined in the FCPA

, 15 U.S.C. j

78dd-2(h)(1).

21. Aher leaving Haiti Teleco
, Robert Antoine was hired by Uniplex and CINERGY 

as

a consultant. Antoine's primary role was to help Uniple
x and CINERGY with their business with

Haiti Teleco and to serve as an intennediary betw
een Uniplex and CINERGY and JEAN RENE

DUPERVAL . On or about November 5
, 2003, Antoine incorporated Process Consulting

, lnc.

(ûiprocess Consulting''), with a headquarters and balzk account in Mi
ami, Florida. Antoine used

Process Consulting to receive payments from Unipl
ex and to make payments to Telecom Consulting

for DUPERVAL'S benefh on behalf of Uniplex and CINERGY
. During his tenure at Uniplex and

CINERGY, Antoine was an officer
, employee, and agent of a domestic concern

, as these terms are

defined in the FCPA
, 15 U.S.C. j 78dd-2(h)(l).

22. Company A served as an intenuediary betwe
en CINERGY and Official B

. From in

or around October 2002 through in or around February 2003
, Company A received funds from

CINERGY, or from Haiti Teleco on CINERGY'
S behalf, a portion of which was intended for

Oftkial B. Company A was an agent of a domestic 
concern, as these terms are defined in the FCPA

,

15 U.S.C. j 78dd-2(h)(1).
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COUNT 1
Conspiracy

(18 U.S.C. j 371)

1 . Paragraphs 1 through 13 and 18 throu
gh 22 of the General Allegations to this Se

cond

Superseding Indictment are re-alleged and incorporated by reference as th
ough set forth herein.

From in or arotmd December 2001
, through in or around January 2006

, the exact

dates being unknown to the Grand July in M i
ami-Dade County, in the Southem Distriet of Florida

,

and elsewhere, the defendants,

W ASHINGTON VASCONEZ CRUZ
,CECILIA ZURIT 

,A
AM ADEUS RICHERS

,

and
CINERGY TELECOM M UNICATIONS

, INC..

did willfully, that is
, with the intent to further the objects of the conspiracy

, and knowingly conspire,

eonfederate and agree with each other
, and with other persons, known and unknown to the Grand

Jury, including PATRICK JOSEPH
, M ARGUERITE GRANDISON

, Uniplex, Juan Diaz, JD

Locator, Jean Fourcand
, Fourcand Entemrises, Robert Antoine, Process Consulting

, Telecom

Consulting, and Company A to commit offenses ag
ainst the United States

, that is:

(a) to knowingly make use of the mails and means and inst
rum entalities of interstate

commerce com lptly in furtherance of an offer
, payment, promise to pay, and authorization of the

payment of any money, offer, gift promise to give
, and authorization of the giving of anything of

value to any foreign offkial
, or any person, while knowing that al1 or a part of such money or thi

ng

of value will be offered
, given, or promised, directly or indirectly

, to any foreign official, for

purposes of: (i) influencing acts and decisions of such foreign official in hi
s official capacity; (ii)

inducing such foreign official to do and omit to d
o acts in violation of the lawful duty of such

9
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official; (iii) stcuring an improper advantage; and (iv) ind
ucing such foreign official to use his

intluence with a foreign government and instn
zmentalities thereof to affect and intluence acts 

and

decisions of such govemment and instru
mentalities, in order to assist W ASHINGTON

VASCONEZ CRUZ
, CECILIA ZURITA

, AM ADEUS RICHERS
, CINERGY

TELECOM M UNICATIONS
, INC. CCINERGYM), PATRICK JOSEPH

, M ARGUERITE

GRANDISON, Uniplex
, Juan Diaz, JD Locator, Jean Fourcand, Fourcand Enterprises

, Robert

Antoine, Process Consulting
, Telecom Consulting, Company A , and others known and unknown to

the Grand Jury, in obtaining and retaining busines
s for and with, and directing business to Unipl

ex

and CINERGY, in violation of the Foreign Colrupt Practices A
ct, Title 15, United States Code

,

Section 78dd-2(a); and

(b) to knowingly, and with intent to defraud
, devise, and intend to devise a scheme and

artitke to defraud, and to obtain money and property by 
means of materially false and fraudulent

pretenses, representations, and promises
, knowing that they were false and fraudulent when made,

and to transmit and cause to be transmitted by means of 
wire communications in interstate and

foreign commerce, certain signs, signals, and sounds, for the pumose of executing such scheme and

artifice, in violation of Title 18
, United States Code, Section 1343.

PURPOSES OF THE CONSPIM CY

A purpose of the conspiracy was forthe defendants to unjustly enrichthemsel
ves by

haVingW ASHINGTONVASCONEZCRUZ
,CECILIAZUW TA,AM ADEUSW CHERS

,M d

CINERGY, along with PATRICK JOSEPH
, M ARGUERITE GRANDISON

, Uniplex, Juan

Diaz, JD Locator
, Jean Fourcand, Fourcand Enterprises, Robert Antoine, Process Consulting,

Telecom Consulting
, Company A, and others known and unknown to the Grand Jury, provide bribe
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payments intendtd for Robert Antoine
, JEAN RENE DUPERVAL

, PATRICK JOSEPH, and

Official B, in exchange for business advantag
es to be bestowed upon Uniplex and CINERGY b

y
Haiti Teleco. These business advantages to Uniplex and CINERGY i

neluded, but were not limited

to, telecommunications contracts
, preferred telecommunications rates

, and credits toward sums

owed. It was a further purpose of the conspirac
y to defraud Haiti Teleco of revenue by obtainin

g
these advantages for Uniplex and CINERGY

.

M ANNER AND M EANS OF THE CONSPIRACY

The manner and means by which W ASHINGTON VASCONE
Z CRUZ, CECILIA

ZURITA,AM ADEUS RICHERS
, CINERGY, andtheir co-conspirators soughtto ac

complishthe

objects and purposes of the conspiracy included
, among other things, the following:

4. W ASHINGTON VASCONEZ CRUZ
, CECILIA ZURITA

, and AM ADEUS

RICHERS would authorize the payment of bribes on b
ehalf of Uniplex and CINERGY intended

for various Haitian offkials who could affect Uniplex a
nd CINERGY'S ability to obtain or retain

business with Haiti Teleco
, including Robert Antoine, as Director of lntem ational Relations of Haiti

Teleco, JEAN RENE DUPERVAL
, also as Director of International Relations of Haiti Teleco

,

PATRICK JOSEPH
, as Director General of Haiti Teleco

, and Ofûcial B, as an official in the

executive branch of the Haitian Government
.

5. Uniplex and CINERGY would make bribe payments i
ntended for Robert Antoine

,

JEAN RENE DUPERVAL
, PATRICKJOSEPH , and Official B and, inexchange, wouldreceive

various business advantages.

6. To disguise the true nature of the bribe payments
, W ASHINGTON VASCONEZ

CRUZ, CECILIA ZURITA
, and AM ADEUS RICHERS would eause payments to bt made f

or

11
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fctionaltelecommu ications-related servicest
o intermediarycompanies chosenbyRobertAnt

oine,

JEAN RENE DUPERVAL
, PATRICK JOSEPH , and Official B. To aid in the concealment of

thebribePaymentS,W ASHINGTONVASCONEZCRUZ
,CECILIAZUY TA

, andAM ADEUS

RICHERS would cause Uniplex and CINERGY t
o put false notations on financial

, banking, and

accounting documents.

One of the intermediary companies used to conceal 
and disguise the bribe payments

was JD Locator, a shell entity controlled by Juan Diaz
. CECILIA ZURITA would issue checks

from Uniplex's bank account to JD Locator that J
uan Diaz would deposit into JD Locator's bank

account at Kislak National Barlk in Miami (the CCJD Locator Kislak bank acc
ount''). Over the course

ofthe conspiracy
, over $333,000 inCheCkSthatW ASHINGTON VASCONEZCRUZ

, CECILIA

ZURITA, and AM ADEUS RICHERS caused Uniplex t
o issue to JD Locator were deposited into

the JD Locator Kislak bnnk account
. These checks were issued for no legitimate business purp

ose.

lt was VASCONEZ
, ZURITA, and RICHERS' intention that the funds would be used to provide

an illicit benefit to PATRICK JOSEPH
, Robert Antoine, and Official B .

8. Juan Diaz and Jean Fourcand would disburse the fund
s from the JD Locator Kislak

bank account by writing and cashing checks from that acco
unt and by purchasing cashier's checks

for PATRICK JOSEPH'S benefit
. To help conceal their activities

, Juan Diaz and Jean Fourcand

would keep under $10,000 any cash transactions conducted for PATRICK JOSEPH'
S benefit to

avoid currency reporting requirements that applied to cash tran
sactions of $10,000 or more.

9. At Robert Antoine's direction
, Juan Diaz would disburse the funds from the JD

Locator Kislak bank account by: (1) sending wire transfers to Antoine's Washi
ngton M utual bank

account; (2) issuing checks made payable to Antoine
, which were then deposited into Antoine's

12

12 of 44

Case 1:09-cr-21010-JEM   Document 685   Entered on FLSD Docket 01/20/2012   Page 12 of 44



W ashington Mutual bank aecotmt; (3) withdrawing curre
ncy to be given to Antoine

, some of which

was then deposited into Antoine's W ashington M ut
ual bank account; and (4) sending funds to family

members of Antoine and others at Antoine's directi
on.

10. At times
, Juan Diaz would also write cheeks to Fourcand Enterprises. Diaz would

then give the checks to Jean Fourcand to depo
sit in the Fourcand Entemrises account

. These funds

would later be used in ajoint real estate investment deal for the b
enest of Fourcand and Antoine

.

1 1. W ASHINGTON VASCONEZ CRUZ
, CECILIA ZURITA

, and AM ADEUS

RICHERS would also cause bribe payment
s to be made that were intended for PATRICK

JOSEPH and Ofticial B in Haiti
. ZURITA would issue checks in the name 

of 'QJ.D. Locator

Services''thatvAscoNEz
, ZURITA, and RICHERS would cause to be deli

vered to PATRICK

JOSEPH in Haiti (the tSJD Locatorllaiti checks')
. VASCONEZ, ZURITA, and RICHERS would

cause these checks to be delivered knowing thatthere was n
o business called ISJ.D. Locator Services''

at the Haitian address listed on the checks
. Over the course of the conspiraey

, ZURITA would cause

over $815,000 worth of checks to be sent to Haiti on behalf 
of PATRICK JOSEPH and Official

B in this marmer.

12. At PATRICK JOSEPH'S direction
, Oftkial A would use his position as the

Govemor of the Bank of Haiti to cause the JD Locato
r Haiti checks to be negotiated at the Bank of

Haiti. Official A would then cause wire transfers to b
e made, checks to be issued

s and cash to be

withdrawn for the benefit of PATRICK JOSEPH
.

Company A was anotherintermediary company that 
was used to pay bribes that were

intended for Offcial B
. W ASHINGTON VASCONEZ CRUZ

, CECILIA ZURITA , and

AM ADEUS RICHERS would cause CINERGY to 
enter into a letter agreement with Haiti Teleco
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that provided that $1,228,500 was due from CINERGY to Com
pany A for iiDistribution and

Administration Fees.'' VASCONEZ, ZURITA, RICHERS
, and CINERGY would cause the

$1,228,500 to be paid to Company A
, directly or indirectly

, with the intention that a portion of these

payments would later be paid to Official B
. Company A would not perform any distrib

ution or

administration of any kind under this letter a
greem ent.

14. After JEAN RENE DUPERVAL a
ssumed the role of Director of International

Relations, W ASHINGTON VASCONEZ CRUZ
, CECILIA ZURITA, and AM ADEUS

RICHERS would cause bribe payments to be 
made to DUPERVAL through the intermedi

ary

company Telecom Consulting. At the time that DUPERVAL assu
med this position, CINERGY

had used most of its pre-paid minute credits th
at it had received on favorable terms from Robe

rt

Antoine, PATRICK JOSEPH
, and Official B. VASCONEZ

, ZURITA, and RICHERS would

seek to extend CINERGY'S favorable treatment a
nd to reeeive more pre-paid minute credits by

bribing DUPERVAL. Over the course of the conspiracy
, ZURITA would cause over $257

,000

worth of checks to be issued to Telecom Consulting 
on behalf of DUPERVAL

. To conceal the

bribery, ZURITA would include false memos o
n the checks. Telecom Consulting would not

perform any consulting services of any kind f
or Uniplex, CINERGY

, or any other

telecom munications company
.

15. W hen Robert Antoine went to work as a co
nsultant for Uniplex and CINERGY

, he

acted as an additional intenuediary
. Antoine would receive funds from Uniplex in the 

name of

Process Consulting and then issue checks from Pro
cess Consulting to Telecom Consulting

, intending

that the funds actually be transferred to JEAN RENE DUPER
VAL. Over the course of the
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conspiracy, Antoine would transmit at least $22
,500 worth of illicit payments in this manne

r.

Telecom Consulting would not perform any c
onsulting services of any kind for Process Cons

ulting.

16. M ARGUERITE GRANDISON wo
uld receive checks from Uniplex

, CINERGY,

and Process Consulting and deposit them int
o Telecom Consulting's bank account

. At JEAN

RENE DUPERVAL'S direction
, GRANDISON would disburse the funds recei

ved by: (1) issuing
checks from Telecom Consulting's account 

made payable to DUPERVAL
, which were then

deposited into DUPERVAL'S bank account
s; (2) issuingchecks from Telecomconsulting's account

made payable to DUPERVAL, which were then caused to be cashed by DUPERVAL
; (3) issuing

checks from Telecom Consulting's accotmt m
ade payable to DUPERVAL'S family

, which were

then deposited into DUPERVAL'S bank accou
nts; (4)withdrawing currency from Telecom

Consulting's account on behalf of DUPERVAL
; and (5) making purchases with funds from

Telecom Consulting's account for the benest of DUPERVAL
.

OVERT ACTS

In furtherance of the conspiracy andto achieve the objects andpumos
es thereof, at least one

of the conspirators committed
, or caused to be committed, in the Southern District of Florida

, and

elsewhere, at least one of the following overt acts
, among others:

Payments in Miami lnvolving JD L ocator

OnOrabOUtDeCemberZO
,ZOOI,W ASHINGTON VASCONEZCRUZ

,CECILIA

ZURITA, AM ADEUS RICHERS
, and CINERGY caused a check to be issued from Uniplex's

Bank Atlantic bank account
, made payable to a third party

, in the approximate amount of $22
,500.
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On or about the following dates
, W ASHINGTON VASCONEZ CRUZ

, CECILIA

ZURITA, AM ADEUS RICHERS
, and CINERGY caused checks to be issued fr

om Uniplex's

Bank Atlantic bank account
, made payable to JD Locator

, in the following amounts:

On or about August 8
, 2003, W ASHINGTON VASCONEZ CRUZ

, CECILIA

ZURITA, AM ADEUS RICHERS
, and CINERGY caused a cashier's check to be issued f

rom

Uniplex's Bank Atlantic ballk account
, made payable to JD Locator, in the approximate amount of

$15,000.

On or about the following dates
, Juan Diaz caused checks to be issued from the JD Locator

Kislak bank account, payable to Robert Antoine in the following a
m ounts:
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7 August 19, 2002 $69,750 lnv# 57645

8 November 20, 2002 $4,900 lnv 21571

9 November 25, 2002 $4,950 Inv 2 1575

10 Decem ber 5
, 2002 $4,800 lnv# 2 1603

1 1 December 10, 2002 $4,800 lnv 21614

12 December 21
, 2002 $2

,465 lnv 21654

13 February 3, 2003 $4,900 Inv 037351

14 February 7
, 2003 $2,380 lnv 037382
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15 Febnzary 1 1
, 2003 $4

,900 lnv 037402

16 Februmy 18
, 2003 $4

,900 Inv 037453

17 February 21
, 2003 $3,700 1nv 037492

18 M arch 25
, 2003 $4,500 lnv 037536

19 M arch 27
, 2003 $4,500 1nv 037579

20 April 7
, 2003 $4

,500 Inv 037612

21 April 14
, 2003 $4

,500 1nv 037647

22 April 25
, 2003 $4

,500 1nv 037725

On or about the following dates
, Juan Diaz caused wire transfers to be made from th

e JD

LocatorKislak bnnk accotmtto Robert Antoine'
s W ashington Mutual Bank account

, in the following

am ounts:
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23 M ay 31, 2002 $58,223

24 July 22
, 2002 $33

,000

25 July 30
, 2002 $46

,500

26 August 9, 2002 $37
,200

On or about August 15
, 2003, Juan Diaz cashed a check made payable to himself

from the JD Loeator Kislak bank account for $9
,000.

On or about August 19
, 2003, Juan Diaz cashed a check made payable to himself

from the JD Locator Kislak bank account for $5
,000.

17

17 of 44

Case 1:09-cr-21010-JEM   Document 685   Entered on FLSD Docket 01/20/2012   Page 17 of 44



On or about the following dates
, Juan Diaz and Jean Fourcand caused cashiers ch

ecks to be

issued from Kislak National Bank to friends of PATRICK JOSEP
H for the benefit of PATRICK

JOSEPH, in the following amounts:

JD Locator Checks Cashed in Haiti

On or about the following dates
, W ASHINGTON VASCONEZ CRUZ

, CECILIA

ZURITA, AM ADEUS RICHERS
, and CINERGY caused checks to be issued from Uniplex's

Bank Atlantic bank account
, made payable to JD Locator Services

, in the following amounts:
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31 arch 5, 2002 $257,385.59 lnvoice

32 ay 22
, 2002 $61,1 16.84 lnvoice 079

.231

33 July 15, 2002 $102,094.26 lnvoice 079
.462

34 ugust 9
, 2002 $185,000 Invoice 079

.714

35 ugust 30
, 2002 $60,000 Prepaym ent

36 Febru 25
, 2003 $150,000 Pre-payment
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Telecom Consulting Payments

37. Onor aboutNovember 18
,2003, M ARGUERITE GRANDISON caused 

achecking

account to be opened at SouthTrust Bank for Telecom C
onsulting, in accordance with an October

19,2003,electronic mail communicationfrom R AN RENEDUPER
VAL thatTelecom Consulting

had been created and that a bank account could 
now be opened.

38. On orabout December 17
, 2003, W ASHINGTON VASCONEZCRUZ

, CECILIA

ZURITA, AM ADEUS RICHERS
, CINERGY, and Robert Antoine caused a check t

o be issued

from CINERGY'S Bank Atlantic bank acco
unt, made payable to Telecom Consulting

, in the

approximate amount of $45,230.00, with a memo that read kilnterconnection services.''

On or about the following dates
, W ASHINGTON VASCONEZ CRUZ

, CECILIA

ZURITA, AM ADEUS RICHERS
, CINERGY , and Robert Antoine caused checks to be issued

from Uniplex's Bank Atlantic bank account
, made payable to Telecom Consulting

, in the following

am ounts:
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,39 January 6
, 2004 $47,452.98 International

inutes fron (sicl
USA - Haiti

40 February 17
, 2004 $46,452.68 International

inutes fron (s1'cl
USA - Haiti

41 arch 5, 2004 $47
,009.66 lntemational

inutes fron gsic)
USA - Haiti

42 April 16
, 2004 $41

,170.00 Invoice # 033104

43 June 11
, 2004 $30,024

.36 lnvoice 043004
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On or about the following dates
, W ASHINGTON VASCONEZ CRUZ

, CECILIA

ZURITA, AM ADEUS RICHERS
, CINERGY, and Robert Antoine caused checks to be i

ssued

from Process Consulting's Citibank bank 
account, made payable to Telecom Consulting

, in the
following amounts:

On oraboutthe followingdates
, M ARGUERITE GRANDISON caused check

s to be issued

from Telecom Consulting's South-rrust ba
nk account, which were payable to JEAN RENE

DUPERVAL and subsequently deposited into DUPERVAL'
S University Credit Union account

, in

the following amounts:

.
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:46 M arch 1
, 2004 $8

,000 none

47 April 30
, 2004 $8,235 none

48 July 12
, 2004 $2,596.50 none

. 49 July 28
, 2004 $2,596.50 payroll 7/04

50 August 27
, 2004 $2,596,50 payroll 8/04

51 September 20
, 2004 $2

,596.50 payroll-9/04
52 December 23

, 2004 $3
,000 Bonus 2004
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Onor aboutthe following dates
, M ARGUERITE GRANDISON caused ch

ecks to be issued

from Telecom Consulting's South-frust ba
nk account, payable to JEAN RENE DUPERVAL

,

which were subsequently deposited into DUPERVAL'
S W achovia bank accounts

, in the following

am ounts:
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53 July 28
, 2004 $5

,473.64 travel expenses
,

office supplies
54 October 20

, 2004 $2,596.50 none

Onoraboutthe following dates
, M ARGUERITE GRANDISON caused check

s to be issued

from Telecom Consulting's SouthTrust bank 
account, which were made payable to JEAN RENE

DUPERVAL,M dwMCIIDUPERVAL subsequentlycausedto b
ecashed, inthe following amounts:

58 . On orabout June 22
, 2004,M ARGUERITE GRANDISON caus

eda cashier's

check to be issued
, made payable to Statewide Title Co

. for approximately $95
,727.55 to be used

for the purchase of a house for JEAN RENE DUPERVAL
.

Additional œ ert Acts and Company 
ad

59. On or about October 25
, 2001, W ASHINGTON VASCONEZ CRUZ

, CECILIA

ZURITA, AM ADEUS RICHERS
, and CINERGY caused CINERGY'S attorney to sign a Sales

and Distribution Agreement with PATRICK JOSEPH
.
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60. On or about August 23
, 2002, AM ADEUS RICHERS wrote a lett

er agreem ent,

countersigned by Robert Antoine
, and authorized by W ASHINGTON VASCONEZ CRUZ 

and

CECILIA ZURITA
, concerningthe Octoberzs

, 2001, Sales and DistributionAgreementrefe
renced

in Overt Ad 59. The letter agreement provided that CINERGY 
would be 'tentitled to terminate a

minimum amount of 85
,324,950 minutes to the Republic of Haiti for a t

otal payment of $3,700,0005'

and that CINERGY'S interests would be guara
nteed by a $6,000,000 standby letter of credit

, which

PATRICK JOSEPH
, Robert M toine

, and Offcial A had caused the Bmzk of Haiti t
o issue to

CINERGY . Exhibit A to the letter agreement provid
ed that $1,228,500 of the $6

,000,000

guaranteed by the standby letter of credit was d
ue to Company for çsDistribution and

Administration Fees.''

61. On or about October 24
, 2002, W ASHINGTON VASCONEZ CRUZ

, CECILIA

ZURITA,AM ADEUS W cHERs
sandclNERGY causedachecktobeissued from CINERGY'

S

Bank Atlantic bank account
, made payable to Company A

, in the approximate amount of

$500,000.00, with a memo that read itcommissiom (sicl Pa
yment.''

62. On or about Janumy 10
, 2003, W ASHINGTON VASCONEZ CRUZ

, CECILIA

ZURITA, AM ADEUS RICHERS
, and CINERGY caused CINERGY'S attorney to sign a letter

agreement, countersigned by Robert Antoine
, in which CINERGY requested that Haiti Telec

o

advanct $628,500.00 to Company A on behalf of CINERGY 
as tkthe final commission amount

.
''

63. On or about M ay 13
, 2003, AM ADEUS RICHERS wrote a letter to Teleco,

authorized by W ASHINGTON VASCONEZ CRUZ 
and CECILIA ZURITA

, in which

RICHERS wrote that CINERGY was nowpayi
ng the remaining balance of the $628

,500 advanced

by Teleco under the letter agreement referenc
ed in Overt Act 62.
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64. On or about M arch 5
, 2004, AM ADEUS RICHERS signed a lette

r agreement with

JEAN RENE DUPERVAL
, withthe authorization of W ASHINGTON VASCONEZ CRUZ 

and

CECILIA ZURITA
, in which Haiti Teleco agreed to give CINERGY 

an additional credit of

approximately 1 1,189,934 minutes that it could terminate at Haiti Tele
co at no cost, in exchange for

Sdcontinuing services
.
''

Al1 in violation of Title 18
, United States Code, Section 371.

COUNTS 2-3
Violations of the Forvign Corrupt Practices A

ct(15 U
.S.C. j 78dd-2(a); 18 U.S.C. j 2)

1. Paragraphs 1 through 13 and 18 through 22 ofth
e General Allegations and paragraphs

4 through 16 of the M nnner and M eans section of Co
unt 1 of this Second Superseding lndictment

are re-alleged and incorporated by reference as though set f
orth herein.

On orabout the dates set forth below
, in M iami-Dade County, in the Southem District

of Florida, and elsewhere
, the defendants,

W ASHINGTON VASCONEZ CRUZ
,

AM ADEUS RICHERS
,

and
CINERGY TELECOM M UNICATIONS

, INC.,

who were domestic concerns and officers
, employees and agents of domestic concerns within the

meaning of the FCPA, willfully made use of, and aided, abetted, and caused others to make use of
,

the mails and means and instrumentalities of interstate com
merce corruptly in furtherance of an offer

,

payment, promise to pay, and authorization of the payment of any mone
y, offer, gift, promise to give

,

and authorization of the giving of anything of value to a
ny foreign ofticial, and to any person, while

knowing that the money and thing of value will b
e offered, given, and promised

, directly and
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indirectly, to any foreign official for the 
purposes of: (i) intluencing acts and decisions of such

foreign official in his oftkial capacity; (ii) inducing such f
oreign official to do and omit to do acts

in violation of the lawful duty of such offi
cial; (iii) securing an improper advantage; and (iv)

inducing such foreign official to use his intl
uence with a foreign government and instrumentaliti

es

thereof to affect and intluence acts and decisi
ons of such government and instrumentalities

, in order

to assist defendants VASCONEZ
, RICHERS, and CINERGY

, and others known and unknown

to the Grand Jury, including CECILIA ZURITA
, in obtaining and retaining business for and 

with,

and directing business to CINERGY and Unipl
ex, as follows:

In violation of Title 15
, United States Code, Section 78dd-2(a) and Title 18, United States

Code, Section 2.

24

24 of 44

Case 1:09-cr-21010-JEM   Document 685   Entered on FLSD Docket 01/20/2012   Page 24 of 44



COUNTS 4-7
Violations of the Foreign Corrupt Practi

ces Act(15 U
.S.C. j 78dd-2(a); 18 U.S.C. j 2)

1. Paragraphs 1 through 13 and 18 through 22 
of the General Allegations and paragraphs

4 through 16 of the M mmer and M eans secti
on of Count 1 of this Second Superseding Indi

ctm ent

are re-alleged and incomorated by reference as tho
ugh set forth herein.

On or about the dates set forth below
, in M iami-Dade County, in the Southem District

of Florida, and elsewhere
, the defendants,

W ASHINGTON VASCONEZ CRUZ
,CECILIA ZURITA

,

AM ADEUS RICHERS
,

and
CINERGY TELECOM M UNICATIONS

, INC.,

who were domestic concerns and oftscers
, employees and agents of domestic concems within th

e

meaning of the FCPA
, willfully made use of, and aided, abetted, and caused others to make use of

,

the mails and means and instrumentalities of interst
ate commerce corruptly in furtherance of anoffer

,

payment, promise to pay, and authorization of the payment of 
any money, offer, gift, promise to give

,

and authorization of the giving of anything of value t
o any foreign official, and to any person, while

knowing that the money and thing of value will b
e offered, given, and promised, directly and

indirectly, to any foreign official for the purp
oses of: (i) influencing acts and decisions of such

foreign official in his official capacity'
, (ii) inducing such foreign official to do and omit to do acts

in violation of the lawful duty of such offiei
al; (iii) securing an improper advantage; and (iv)

inducing such foreign official to use his intlu
ence with a foreign government and instrumentalities

thereof to affect and influence acts and decisions 
of such govelmment and instrumentalities

, in order

to assist defendants VASCONEZ
, ZURITA, RICHERS, CINERGY, and others known and
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unknown to the Grand Jury
, in obtaining and retaining business for and with

, and directing business

to CINERGY and Uniplex
, as follows:
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4 February 17
, 2004 lssuance of a $46

,452.68 check from JEAN RENE
Uniplex's Bnnk Atlantic bnnk account DUPERVAL

5 M arch 5
, 2004 lssuance of a $47

,009.66 check from JEAN RENE
Uniplex's Bank Atlantic bank account DUPERVAL

6 April l6
, 2004 Issuance of a $41,170.00 check from JEAN RENE

Uniplex's Bank Atlantic bank account DUPERVAL

7 June 1 1, 2004 Issuance of a $30
,024.36 check from JEAN RENE

Uniplex's Bank Atlantic bnnk account DUPERVAL

In violation of Title 15
, United States Code, Section 78dd-2(a) and Title 1 8

, United States

Code, Section 2.

26

26 of 44

Case 1:09-cr-21010-JEM   Document 685   Entered on FLSD Docket 01/20/2012   Page 26 of 44



COUNT 8
Cinergy M oney Laundering Conspiracy

(18 U.S.C. j 1956(h))

Paragraphs 1 through 13 and l 8 through 22 of the G
eneral Allegations of this Second

Superseding Indictment are re-alleged and inco
morated by reference as though set forth herein

.

2. From in or arotmd December 2001
, through in or around July 2008

, the exact dates

being unknown to the Grand Jury
, in M iami-Dade County, in the Southern District of Florida

, and

elsewhere, the defendants
,

W ASHINGTON VASCONEZ CRUZ
,CECILIA ZURIT 

,A
M ADEUS RICHERS

,
A

CINERGY TELECOM M UNICATIONS
, INC.,

PATRICK JOSEPH
,

JEAN RENE DUPERVAL
.

and
M ARGUERITE GM NDISON

,

did willfully, that is
, with the intent to further the objects of the conspiracy

, and knowingly combine,

conspire, confederate, and agree with each other and with other persons know
n and unknown to the

Grand Jury, including Uniplex
, Robert Antoine, Proeess Consulting, Juan Diaz, JD Locator-M iami

,

Jean Fourcand, and Fourcand Entemrises, to commit offenses under Title 18
, United States Code,

Sections 1956 and 1957
, that is:

(a) knowing that the property involved in the financial trans
action represented the

proceeds of some form of unlawful activity
, to conduct fsnancial transactions affecting interstate and

foreign commerce
, which financialtransactions involvedthe proceeds of speciied unlawful activity

,

knowing that the transactions were designed in wh
ole and in part to conceal and disguise the nature

,
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the location, the source
, the ownership, and the control of the proceeds of said specifi

ed unlawful

activity, in violation of Title 18
, United States Code, Section 1956(a)(1)(B)(i); and

(b) to engage in a monetary transaction by
, through, and to a financial institution

, in and

affecting interstate and foreign commerce
s in criminally derived property that was of a value greater

than $1 0,000.00, that is
, the deposit, withdrawal, transfer and exchange of U

.S. currency, funds and

monetary instrum ents
, such property having been derived from specified unlawful activity

, in

violation of Title 18
, United States Code, Section 1957.

PURPOSES OF THE CONSPIM CY

The puposes of the conspiracy were for W ASHINGTON VASC
ONEZ CRUZ

,

CECILIA ZUW TA
, AM ADEUS RICHERS

, CINERGY TELECOM M UNICATIONS
,

PATW CK JOSEPH
,JEAN M NEDUPERVAL

,K dM ARGUEY TEGM NDISON
,M dtheir

co-conspirators to conceal the bribe payments paid on behalf 
of Uniplex and CINERGY intended

for Robert Antoine
, JEAN RENE DUPERVAL, PATRICK JOSEPH

, and Official B by

conducting fnancial transactions with the illegal pro
ceeds in such a manner as to conceal the nature

and the source of the proceeds
, and to use the illegal proceeds in monetary transactions that were

conducted in amounts over $10
,000.

M ANNER AND M EANS OF THE CONSPIRACY

4. Paragraphs 4 through 16 of the Manner and M
eans section of Count 1 of this Second

Superseding lndictment are re-alleged and incorpo
rated by reference herein as a description of the

manner and means, among others
, by which W ASHINGTON VASCONEZ CRUZ

, CECILIA

ZURITA, AM ADEUS RICHERS
, CINERGY TELECOM M UNICATIONS

, PATRICK

28

28 of 44

Case 1:09-cr-21010-JEM   Document 685   Entered on FLSD Docket 01/20/2012   Page 28 of 44



JOSEPH, JEAN RENE DUPERVAL
, M d

co-conspirators sought to accomplish the objects and purposes of th
e conspiracy.

M ARGUERITE GM NDISON
, and their

It is further alleged thatthe specified unlawful 
activities are violations of the Foreign

Comzpt Practices Act
, Title 15, United States Code

, Section 78dd-2(a); violations of the criminal

bribery laws of Haiti
, The Republic of Haiti's Penal Code Articles 1 37 

and 140; and wire fraud
, in

violation of Title 18
, United States Code, Section 1343.

A1l in violation of Title 18
, United States Code, Section 1956(h).

COUNT 9
Terra M oney Laundering Conspiracy

(18 U.S.C. j 1956(h))

Paragraphs 1 through 3
, 5 through 6, and 14 through 2 l of the General All

egations

of this Second Superseding Indictment are re
-alleged and incorporated by reference as though 

set

forth hervin.

2. From in or around October 2003
, through in or around January 2006

, the exact dates

being unknown to the Grand Jury
, in M iami-Dade County, in the Southern District of Florida

, and

elsewhere, the defendants
,

JEAN RENE DUPERVAL

and
M ARGUERITE GRANDISON

,

did willfully, that is
, with the intent to flmher the objects of the conspiracy

, and knowingly combine
,

conspire, confederate
, and agree with each other and with other persons kn

own and unknown to the

Grand Jury, including Joel Esquenazi
, Carlos Rodriguez, the General Counsel, Terra, and Telecom

Consulting, to commit offenses under Title 18
, United States Code, Sections 1956 and l 957

, that

is:
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knowing that the property involved in the û
nancial transaction represented the

proceeds of some form of unlawful activity
, to conduct tinancial transactions affecting interstate a

nd

foreign commerce
, which financial transactions involvedthe proceeds of 

specitsed unlawful activity
,

knowing that the transactions were designed in wh
ole and in part to conceal and disguise the nature

,

the location, the source
, the ownership, and the control of the proceeds of said specified unlawful

activity, in violation of Title 18
, United States Code, Section 1956(a)(1)(B)(i); and

(b) to engage in a monetary transaction by
, through, and to a financial institution

, in and

affecting interstate and foreign commtrce
, in criminally derived property that was of a value 

greater

than $ 10,000.00, that is
, the deposit, withdrawal, transfer and exchange of U .S. currency, funds and

monetary instruments, such property having been derived from 
specified unlawful activity

, in

violation of Title 18
, United States Code, Section 1957.

PURPOSES OF THE CONSPIM CY

3. The puposes of the conspiracy were for JEAN RENE DUPE
RVAL and

M ARGUERITE GRANDISON
, and their co-conspirators, including Joel Esquenazi

, Carlos

Rodriguez, the General Counsel
, Tena, and Telecom Consulting

, to conceal the bribe payments paid

to DUPERVAL on behalf of Terra by conduding financi
al transactions with the illegal proceeds in

such a marmer as to conceal the naturt and the source of th
e proceeds, and to use the illegal proceeds

in monetary transactions which were conducted in am
ounts over $10,000.

M ANNER AND M EANS OF THE CONSPIRACY

The manner and means by which JEAN RENE DUPERVAL
, M ARGUERITE

GRANDISON
, and their co-conspirators sought to accomplish the objects and purposes of th

e

conspiracy included, among other things
, the following:
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Joel Esquenazi and Carlos Rodriguez would auth
orize the payments of bribes on

behalf of Terra to the Diredor of Intematio
nal Relations of Haiti Teleco

, JEAN RENE

DUPERVAL .

5. To disguise the true nature of the bribe pay
ments, Joel Esquenazi and Carlos

Rodriguez would cause payments to be made for ficti
onal t'consulting services'' to an intermediary

company chosen by JEAN RENE DUPERVAL
. To aid in the concealment of the bribe payments

,

Esquenazi and Rodriguez would cause Terra to falsely 
record these payments as çtcommissions'' or

k%consulting fees'' on financial
, blmking, and accounting documents.

6, Joel Esquenazi andthe General Counsel would a
ssist inthe incorporation of Telecom

Consulting as a shell company used as an intermediar
y to conceal bribe payments from Esquenazi

and Carlos Rodriguez to JEAN RENE DUPERVAL
. DUPERVAL'S sister

, M ARGUERITE

GRANDISON, would be listed as Telecom Consulting'
s President and was its sole officer

. Terra's

General Counsel would be listed as the registered agent of T
elecom Consulting.

7. W ith the aid of Joel Esquenazi
, M ARGUERITE GRANDISON would establish a

bnnk account in the name of Telecom Consulting and li
st herself as the sole signatory on that

account. Esquenazi and Carlos Rodriguez would direct that bribe 
payments for JEAN RENE

DUPERVAL be paid to Telecom Consulting
. Over the course of the conspiracy

, the bank account

of Telecom Consulting would receive over $70
,000 from Terra in bribes via wire transfers and an

intrabank transfer from Terra
. Telecom Consulting would not perform any consulting s

ervices of

any kind for Terra or any other telecommunications comp
any.

8. M ARGUERITE GRANDISON
, at JEAN RENE DUPERVAL'S direction

,would

disburse the funds received from Terra and deposited into T
elecom Consulting's bank account by:

3 1
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(1) issuing checks from Telecom Consulting's account made 
payable to DUPERVAL

, which were

then deposited into DUPERVAL'S bank acc
ounts; (2) issuing checks from Telecom Consulting's

account made payable to DUPERVAL, which were then caused to be cashed by DUPERVAL
; (3)

issuing checks from Telecom Consulting's ac
count made payable to DUPERVAL'S family

, which

were then deposited into DUPERVAL'S bank accou
nts; (4) withdrawing currency from Telecom

Consulting's account on behalf of DUPERVAL
; and (5) making purchases with funds from

Telecom Consulting's account for the benefit on DUPERVAL
.

9. lt is further alleged that the specified unla
wful activities are violations of the Foreign

Corrupt Practices Act
, Title 15, United States Code

, Section 78dd-2(a); violations of the criminal

bribery laws of Haiti
, The Republic of Haiti's Penal Code Articles 137 and 140) and wire fraud

, in

violation of Title 18
, United States Code, Section 1 343.

A11 in violation of Title 18
, United States Code, Section 1956(h).

COUNTS 10 - 28

M oney Laundering

(18 U.S.C. j 1956(a)(1)(B)(i); 18 U.S.C. j 2)

On or about the dates set forth below
, in M iami-Dade County, inthe Southem District

of Florida, and elsewhere
, the defendants,

W ASHINGTON VASCONEZ CRUZ
,CECILIA ZURITA

,

AM ADEUS RICHER JS
CINERGY TELECOM M UNICATIONS

, INC.,
JEAN RENE DUPERVAL

,

and
M ARGUERITE GRANDISON

,

knowingly conducted and attempted to conduct
, and aided and abetted

, the following financial

transactions affecting interstate and foreign commerce
, which transadions involved the proceeds of
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specified unlawful activity
, knowing that the property involved in the financial transactions

represented the proceeds of some fonn of unlawful activity
, and that the financial transactions were

designed, in whole and in part
, to conceal and disguise the nature

, the location, the source
, the

ownership, and the control of the proceeds of said specifi
ed unlawful activity:

' 
.
'

)t. t ) ( Eqh '' k '. )' tt.. ;'''i it k . .r (kj. 't # ' ) t()lt' )L; 2/. . t').'!tt' :)ht 't )j'7 à' .' ( '' ).J :'( ij t y . t.qt ; ? y t! F ltlàjrlityy ).y@tJj))yï))t t'lttt;j!l @2jy() )yy )..yj)' (!L)qjFE ' jj.;- .(?.j t)ày''t? )( )) C tty. y:h . .)' ' y' - k ' Ct':.) ; ) ?. . . ( $..'f. 7' ct ;) ' . '''è' q' é '.' ) t'ktqy ;( y ; .'.;-.( ïb j'lîjy.yjr:r . t qtf' )' y )tl'L... y r.).ï,yè t(yl;))5 7 ' 'r.. '(ê .( i'.'.t ' '- i . ( )..- '4' . . - s, ? '. ) t.-'..' 't . 
' '
.!
. 
)' âr-.'' (.. .Ed'- # /:. ) ,

.
g y' ')) '.;t). ....ti1t:j2:- . - .,i)Ip.' ' .ù:'i.-.); ( . t' ;j.';b- hkiiii-. )' . 11:1p- iltipk.iirkq. 

. pt:pktihlrrtli' 1I:ik:1(;;p1)' (1jj.- èy..yp-. 11,1k1t(C. 41;,.- ...,: )t.-. -: '- .-;,ï.;L;- ;:# .: : .:.r t..-... :.-. . . , . '.'.. . .
. 

. 

. . .

. 

. #..G. ...:j;kë- ' !1i!l,. ,1:iyij(1I,ikt- t.r:)1:rr... . ,h1t?,.. 
'
' 

.

.:,... .,!.k. t
. .,141k. kù. kdypiilrlpk.. '. .. :. . .. , j ,. . .. ... ,

. . , ..'t ....
.'. 

.:,.L t. ) . -.t.,..'' . . . .Jq . '.. .. . .J' '. :. ' . ' )) ''.k . .r)' . 111k'', j . v, . .. '.w. , . ' .,.'. . . .,'51. . . . .. .h .;. : %, . .('s)f?. .. ,. : LLi:t. j . .k.. ,$. . s' yj .. .. ' : . r .: . ' .. x . ' ç . 
. y ' ). . . .,,. , r . . . .. y, , .., . ,,k k,,.. . 2 ...î . ... . .

,. ., ...:. ê?j . 
, 

.. r . y . ; , . ... , : .

10 M arch 1
, 2004 A Telecom Consulting check dep

osited into JEAN
RENE DUPERVAL'S University Credit U

nionA
ccotmt for approximately $8

,000

1 1 June 2
, 2004 A Telecom Consulting check

, made payable to a third
party, deposited into JEAN RENE DUPERVAL'S
University Credit Union Accotmt for approxim

ately$3
,294

12 June 2
, 2004 A Telecom Consulting check dep

osited into JEAN
RENE DUPERVAL'S University Credit U

nionA
ccount for approximately $8

,235

13 June 25
, 2004 A Telecom Consulting check caused t

o be cashed by
JEAN RENE DUPERVAL for approximately $2

,500
14 July 13, 2004 A Telecom Consulting check depo

sited into JEAN
RENE DUPERVAL'S University Credit U

nionA
ccotmt for approximately $2,596.50

15 July 13
, 2004 A Telecom Consulting check

, made payable to a third
party, deposited into JEAN RENE DUPERVAL'S
University Credit Union Account for approximatel

y$2
,518.50

16 July 28, 2004 A Telecom Consulting check deposited i
nto JEANR

ENE DUPERVAL'S University Credit U
nionA

ccount for approximately $2,596.50
17 July 29, 2004 A Telecom Consulting check deposit

ed into JEAN
RENE DUPERVAL'S W achovia Brmk Accounts f

or
approximately approximately $5,473.64
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18 August 6
, 2004 A Telecom Consulting check

, made payable to a third
party, deposited into JEAN RENE DUPERVAL'

SW achovia Ba
nk Account for approximately

approximately $2,518.50

19 August 27
, 2004 A Telecom Consulting check d

eposited into JEAN
RENE DUPERVAL'S University Credit U

nionA
ccount for approximately $2,596.50

20 August 27
, 2004 A Telecom Consulting check

, made payable to a third
party, deposited into JEAN RENE DUPERVAL'

SUniversity C
redit Union Account for approximately

$2,518.50

21 September 20
, 2004 A Telecom Consulting check d

eposited into JEAN
RENE DUPERVAL'S University Credit U

nionA
ccount for approximately $2,596.50

22 September 20
, 2004 A Telecom Consulting check

, made payable to a third
party, deposited into JEAN RENE DUPERVAL'S
University Credit Union Account for approximat

ely$2
,518.50

23 October 22
, 2004 A Telecom Consulting check dep

osited into JEAN
RENE DUPERVAL'S W achovia Bank account f

or
approximately $2,596.50

24 October 25
, 2004 A Telecom Consulting check

, made payable to a third
party, deposited into JEAN RENE DUPERVAL'S
University Credit Union account for approximat

ely$2
,518.50

25 January 6
, 2005 A Telecom Consulting check caused to b

e cashed byJE
AN RENE DUPERVAL for approximately $2

,500
26 January 6

, 2005 A Telecom Consulting check deposit
ed into JEAN

RENE DUPERVAL'S University Credit Uni
onAccount f

or approximately $3,000

27 January 7
, 2005 A Telecom Consulting check

, made payable to a third
party, deposited into JEAN RENE DUPERVAL'S

W achovia Bank account for approximately $1
,000

28 M arch 29
, 2005 A Telecom Consulting check caused t

o be cashed by
JEAN RENE DUPERVAL for $3

,000
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2. lt is further alleged that the specifed unla
wful activities are violations of the Foreign

Corrupt Practices Act
, Title l5, United States Code

, Section 78dd-2(a); violations of the criminal

bribery laws of Haiti
, The Republic of Haiti's Penal Code Articles 137 

and 140; and wire fraud
, in

violation of Title 18
, United States Codes Section 1343.

In violation of Title 18
, United States Code, Sections 1956(a)(1)(B)(i) and 2.

CRIM INAL FORFEITURE

Paragraphs 1 through 22 of the General Allegatio
ns of this Second Superseding

lndictment and the violations alleged in Counts 1 th
rough 28 of this Second Superseding Indictment

are re-alleged and incorporated by reference herein for th
e purpose of alleging forfeiture to the

United States of propeo  in which one or more of the defend
ants has an interest.

Upon conviction of any of the offenses alleged in Co
unts 1 tlzrough 7 of this Second

Superseding lndictment
, the defendants so convicted shall forfeit to the Unit

ed States any property,

real or personal, which constitutes or is derived from proceeds traceable t
o said offensets).

Upon conviction of any of the offenses alleged in Count
s 8 through 28 of this Second

Superseding lndictment
s the defendants so convicted shall forfeit to the United States any property

,

real or personal, involved in such offense or any propeo  traceable t
o such property.

The property subject to forfeiture includes
, but is not limited to:

A. $2,657,770.60 in United States currency
, representingthe amountof proceeds

derived from the conspiracy alleged in Count 1 ;

B. $257,339.68 in United States currency
, representing the am ount of proceeds

constituting or derived from offenses alleged in Counts 2 th
rough 7;
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or other property that was the subject of each transaction
,

transportation, transmission
, ortransfer in violationof Title l8

,united Statts

Code, Section 1956;

a1l money

D. all commissions
, fees, and other property constituting proceeds obtained as

a result of a violation of Title 18
, United States Code, Section 1956;

all property used in any manner or part to 
commit or to facilitate the

commission of aviolation of Title l 8
, United States Code, Section 1956; and

E.

all property traceable to the money or other p
roperty subject to forfeiture

under categories C
, D, and E, above,

Substitute Assets Provision

lf any of the above-described forfeitable property
, as a result of any act or omission

of the defendants:

cannot be located upon the exercise of due diligence;

has been transferred or sold to
, or deposited with, a third party;

has been placed beyond the jurisdiction of the court;

B.

D .

E. has been commingled with other property 
which cannot be divided without

difficulty;

has been substantially diminished in value; or

it is the intent of the United States to seek forfeiture 
of any other property of said defendants up to

the value of the forfeitable property described above
.

lf more than one defendant is convicted of an offens
e, the defendants so convicted

are jointly and severally liable for the amount derived from such offense
.
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Al1 pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section 98 1(a)(1)(c) made applicable hereto by

Title 28, United States Code
, Section 2461 ; Title 18, United States Code, Sections 982(a)(1) and

(b)(2) and the procedures outlined in Title 21, United States Code, Section 853, and set forth in

Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 32
.2.

A TRUE BILL

FoltEpElkso<oy T/E èRAND JiA Y
This

.zz day of -> A.v<p , 2012

N 'Y, C-  4-e
IFREDO A. FE R

UNITED STATES ATTORNEY

DENIS J. M Cm ERNEY, CHIEF

FM UD SECTION, CRIM W AL DIVISION

U.S. DEPARTM ENT OF JUSTICE

fûs

J es M . Koukios

Se 1or Trial Attomey

k

Daniel S. K

Trial Attorney
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

VS.

W ASHINGTON VASCONEZ CRUZ, et aI.,

Defendants
I

Court Division: (select one)

X Miami Ke WestIB FTpFTu vv

I do hereby certify that:

CASE NO. - -

CERTIFICATE O F TRIAL ATTORNEY*

Superseding Case Information:

New Defendantts) Yes X NoN
umber of New Defendants 1

Total number of counts 79

I have carefully considered the allegations 9f the indictm:nt the number qf defendants the number of
probable witnesses and the legal complexlties of the IndlctMent/lnformatlon attached hereto.

I am Mware that the information supplied pn thiq jtatement will 6e relied upon by the Ju id es of this
Coud In settin/ theirçalendars and scnedullng crlmlnal trlals underthe mandate of tne SpeeuyTrial Act

,Title 28 U.S.U. Sectlon 3161.

Iqterpreter: (Yes 9r No) MonL
Ist language and/or dlalect ftrpnlm

This case will take tR days for the padies to try.

Please check appropriate category and type of offense listed below:

(Check only one) (Check only one)

2.

4.

6. Has this case been previously filed in this District Court? (Yes or No) VpqIf 
yes:

Judge: ' Case No. nQ-71ntn-nR

(Attach copy gf dispositive grdejH
as a complalnt been filed ln thls matter? (Yes or No) NnIf 
yeq:M
aglstrate Case No.
Related Misc#llaneous numbers: 0Q-7nAdR-f7R-.lFM Anfi nQ-7nAd7-f7R-.lFM
Defendantls) ln federal custody as of
Defendantts) ln state custody as of
Rule 20 from the District of

Is this a potential death penalty case? (Yes or No)

0 to 5 days
6 to 10 days
1 1 to 20 days
21 to 60 days
61 days and over

P#tty
Mlnor
Mlsdem.
Felony

Does this case orgi inate from a matter pending in the Nodhern Region of the U.S. Attorney's Office prior0-0
3:2 Yes y Noto October 14, 2

Does this case originate from a matter pending in the Central Region of the U.S. Attorney's Office priorD
07? Yes X Noto September 1, 2

8.

z'x

J S .M KO U KI O S
D J RIAL ATTORNEY
C T ID NO. A5500915

*penalty Sheetts) attached REV 4/8/08
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

PENALTY SHEET

Defendant's Name: W ashington Vasconez Cruz Case No: 09-21010-CR-JEM(s)(s)

Count #:

Conspiracv

18 U.S.C. i 371

*M ax Penalty: 5 veazs' im
- prisonment

Counts #: 2 - 7

Violations of the Foreicn Corrupt Practices Act

15 U.S.CV j 7.8dd-2(a)

WM ax Penalty: 5 vears' imprisonment

Count # 8

M onev Laundering Conspiracy

18 U.S.C. 6 1956(h)

WM ax Penalty: 20 years' imprisonment

Counts #: 10 - 28

M oney Laundering

18 U.S.C. $ 1956(a)(1)(B)(i)

*M ax Penalty: 20 years' im prisonment

*Refers only to possible term  of incarceration
, does not include possible fines, restitution,

special assessm ents, parole term s, or forfeitures that m ay be applicable
.
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

PENALTY SHEET

Defendant's Name:

Count #: 1

Cecilia Zurita No: 09-21010-CR-JEM (sà(sà

Conspiracy

18 U.S.C. $ 371

WM ax Penall : 5 years' imprisonment

Counts #:

Violations of the Foreign Corrupt Practices Açt

15 U.S.C. i 78dd-2(a)

WM ax Penalty: 5 vears' imprisonment

Count #

Money Laundering Conspiracy

18 U.S.C. i 1956(141

*M ax Penalty: 20 years' imprisonment

Counts #: 10 - 28

M onev Launderinc

18 U.S.C. $ 1956(a)(1)(B)(i)

*M ax Penalty: 20 yqars' imprisonment

WRefers only to possible term of incarceration, does not include possible fines, restitution,
special assessm ents, parole term s, or forfeitures that m ay be applicable

.
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

PENALTY SHEET

Defendant's Nam e:

Count # :

Amadeus Richers Case No: 09-21010-CR-JEM (s)(s)

Conspiracy

18 U.S.C. i 371

*M ax Penaltv: 5 years' imprisonment

Counts #:

Violations of the Foreign Com pt Practices Act

15 U.S.C. i 78dd-2(a1

WM ax Penaltv: 5 vears' imprisonment

Count #

M oney Launderin: Conspiracv

18 U.S.C. i 1956(141

*M ax Penalty: 20 years' im prisonment

Counts #: 10 - 28

Money Laundering

18 U.S.C. $ 1956(aX1à(Bb(i1

*M ax Penalty: 20 vears' im prisonmtnt

*Refers only to possible term of incarceration, does not include possible fines, restitution
,

special assessm ents, parole term s, or forfeitures that m ay be applicable.
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

PEN ALTY SHEET

Defendant's Nam e:

Count #: 8

Patrick Joseph Case No: 09-21010-CR-JEM (s1(sb

M oney Laundering Consniracv

18 U.S.C. i 1956(h)

WM ax Penalty: 20 years' imprisonment

Count #:

WM ax Penaltv:

Count #

WM ax Penalty:

Count # :

*M ax Penalty:

WRefers only to possible term of incarceration, does not include possible fines, restitution
,

special assessm ents, parole term s, or forfeitures that may be applicable.
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

PENALTY SHEET

Defendant's Name: Jean Rene Duperval Case No: 09-21010-CR-JEM (s)(s

Counts #:

Money Laundering Conspiracv

18 U.S.C. i 1956414)

*Max Penall: 20 years' imprisonment

Counts #: 10 - 28

Money Laundering

18 U.S.C. i 1956(a)(1)(B)(i)

*M ax Penalty: 20 vears' im prisonment

Count #:

*M ax Penalty:

*Refers only to possible term of incarceration, does not include possible fines, restitution,

special assessm ents, parole term s, or fodeitures that may be applicable.
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

SOUTH ERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

PENALTY SHEET

Defendant's Name: Marguerite Grandison Case No: 09-21010-CR-JEM /sYsJ

Counts #:

M oney Laundering Ctmspiracv

18 U.S.C. i 195641:)

WM ax Penall : 20 years' imprisonment

Counts #:

M onev Launderina

10 - 28

1 8 U.S.C. i 1956/a441 )t'B#i)

WM ax Penalty: 20 years' im prisonment

Count # :

AM ax Penalty:

WRefers only to possible term of incarceration. does not include possible fines, restitution,

special assessm ents, parole term s, or forfeitures that m ay be applicable.
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